#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHNNY MACK SKETO CALHOUN,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO.: SC12-1086

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HOLMES COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-1000

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 201170

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The record on appeal consists of eighteen volumes. Volumes I through IX contains the clerk's records and trial exhibits. These volumes will be reference with the prefix "R" followed by the volume and page numbers. Transcripts of the trial proceedings are contained in volumes X through XVIII will be referenced with the prefix "T." A copy of the sentencing order is attached to this brief as an appendix, referenced "App."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

#### Statement Of The Case

A Holmes County grand jury returned an indictment on February 18, 2011, charging Johnny Mack Sketo Calhoun with first degree murder of Mia Chay Brown and kidnaping. (R1:39-40) Calhoun entered a plea of not guilty. (R1:42-43) The State filed notice of intent to seek a death sentence on August 30, 2011. (R1:46) Calhoun proceeded to a jury trial commencing on February 20,2012, and the jury found Calhoun quilty as charged on February 28, 2012. (R5:892-R6:960) Although the indictment alleged premeditated or felony murder theories, the jury returned a general verdict for first degree murder. (R1:39-40; R6:960) After the penalty phase of the trial, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9 to 3. (R6:1017) The trial court received sentencing memoranda from the State and the defense, a pre-sentence investigation report, and held a Spencer hearing where additional witnesses testified. (R6:1035-1074;R7:1251-1307) On May 18, 2012, Circuit Christopher Patterson sentenced Calhoun to death for the first degree murder and one hundred years in prison for the kidnaping. (R6:1075-1083; 1085-1094; R7:1308-1313)

The trial court filed a sentencing order in support of the death sentence. (R6:1075-1083) (A copy is attached to this brief as an appendix) The court found three aggravating circumstances: (1) the capital murder was committed in a cold, calculated and

premeditated manner (very great weight); (2) the murder was committed during the commission of a kidnaping (great weight); and (3) the murder was committed to avoid arrest(very great weight). (R6:1076-1079) In the order, the court considered the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravator but rejected it as not proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (R6:1075-1076) In mitigation, the court found one statutory mitigator — the defendant has no significant criminal history with his only conviction being for a misdemeanor for driving with a suspended license. (R6:1079) The trial court addressed eight non-statutory mitigating circumstances:

- (1) the defendant exhibited good conduct while in jail and during trial (little weight);
- (2) the defendant has been a positive role model for other jail inmates(some weight);
- (3) the defendant has the capacity for hard work (not established);
- (4) the defendant is capable of forming loving relationships(little weight);
- (5) the defendant's childhood history (little weight);
- (6) the defendant will be incarcerated for life (minimal weight);
- (7) the defendant was born with Sudden Infant Death Syndrome (not mitigating);
- (8) the defendant's personal statement to the court (no mitigators established).

(R6:1079-1081)

Calhoun filed his notice of appeal to this Court on May 22, 2012. (R6:1098)

## Guilt Phase -- State's Case

In December 2010, Mia Brown worked as an employee at Charlie's Grocery and Deli in Esto, Florida. (T13:543-549) On Thursday, December 16, 2010, Harvey Bush, a daily customer, was in the store between 1:00 and 1:30 p.m. (T13:591-593) He saw Mia Brown in the store and her white Toyota automobile outside. (T13:592-593) Johnny Mack Sketo Calhoun entered the store while Bush was talking to Mia Brown. (T13:593) Bush had actually met Calhoun the previous day at Calhoun's father's scrap metal yard in Esto. (T13:593, 596-597) Calhoun asked Brown if she could give him a ride to a party later that evening. (T13:594) She agreed to pick Calhoun up after she got off work, and she noted to Bush that she was friends with Calhoun's girlfriend. (T13:594) Bush knew the store closed between 8:00 and 9:00 p.m. (T13:594, 596) Jerry Gammons lived in a camper trailer two blocks away from the American Precious Metals scrap yard. (T13:605-606) At 8:40 p.m. on December 16, 2010, a young woman driving a light-colored, four door car stopped at his trailer, and said she was looking for Johnny Mack who lived in a camper on the scrap metal yard. (T13:607) Gammons told her she had the wrong trailer, and no one named Johnny Mack lived there. (T13:607) next night, Gammon was at a bar and a man passed out flyers with pictures of two missing persons, Mia Brown and Johnny Mack Sketo Calhoun. (T13:607-609) Gammon later made the connection because the woman looked like the woman who stopped at his trailer, and although he did not know Calhoun, he recognized the Sketo name as he was familiar with the Sketo family. (T13:607-609)

Brandon Brown, Mia Brown's husband, had prepared dinner and waited for his wife to return home from work on December 16, 2010. (T13:614-616) The store usually closed around 9:00 p.m., but sometimes closing the store required a little more time. (T13:616) While waiting, Brandon fell asleep on the couch and he awoke around 2:00 a.m. (T13:617) Mia was not at home, and he began calling friends and family trying to locate her. (T13:618) Mia's mother, Nancy Williams, made a missing person report with Deputy Betty Grimbly at 3:47 a.m. (T13:620-625) Grimbly turned the report over to the investigation section and a BOLO for a missing person issued. (T13:625)

Deputy Chuck White responded to a call at 8:00 a.m. on December 17, 2010, about a possible theft at American Precious Metals scrap yard. (T13:626-627, 632) The owners, Mr. Ellenburg and Mr. Sketo found that a skid loader had been hot wired and moved to a position close to the loading dock. (T13:632) There were unknown tire tracks in the area. (T13:634) Additionally, the travel trailer residence of Johnny Mack Sketo Calhoun had pry marks on the door, the inside had clothes and trash scattered throughout. (T13:628-630) Calhoun was not present. (T13:628) Later that morning, Deputy

White went to Charlie's Grocery to take a statement where he learned that Mia Brown was missing. (T13:630-631)

Brittany Mixon, Calhoun's girlfriend, was staying with her father in Geneva, Alabama, on December 16, 2010. (T14:702-703) She expected Calhoun to come to the house that evening, but he never arrived. (T14:704) The morning of December 17th, Mixon borrowed her father's truck and drove to American Precious Metals to find Calhoun. (T14:704-705) Calhoun did not have a telephone. (T14:705) Mixon arrived about 9:30 a.m. (T14:705) She saw Calhoun's father when she arrived, and he told her Calhoun was not there. (T14:705, 707) She went to the camper trailer, where she used to live with Calhoun and where she still had personal belongings. (T14:705-706) The trailer door could no longer be locked from the outside, and she pulled the door open to look inside for Calhoun. (T14:707) She saw that the inside of the trailer had been ransacked. (T14:707) Mixon left the trailer and drove toward Charlie's Grocery and Deli where she saw a number of police cars. (T14:708) She thought there may have been a wreck. (T14:708-709) She drove back to her father's house, and later, she called the Charlie's grocery expecting her friend, Mia Brown, to answer to talk about the police activity. (T14:709-710) Investigator Michael Raley answered, and he later met Mixon at her grandmother's house to talk about Calhoun and Brown being missing. (T14:710, 763-764)

During Investigator Raley's interview, Mixon said that Calhoun

might be at a campsite area in Geneva County, Alabama. (T14:710-711, 764-765) She had stayed at the camp area multiple nights with Calhoun. (T14:711) The property belonged to Charlie Skinnard, Calhoun's brother-in-law. (T14:712-713, 767) Mixon accompanied Raley to show him the location of the property, and they arrived around 2:00 p.m. (T14:767) Another officer then drove Mixon back to her grandmother's house. (T14:713, 765-767) Raley continued to walk to the campsite. (T14:767)

About 4:00 p.m. on December 17<sup>th</sup>, Brittany Mixon returned to Calhoun's trailer to look for him. (T14:713) Angie Curry, a friend, and Percilla Brown, Mia Brown's sister-in-law, accompanied Mixon. (T14:713-714) When they stopped at the trailer, Mixon went inside. (T14:715) She became suspicious when she found a purse that did not belong to her, a pack of 305 menthol cigarettes and a bottle of wine. (T14:715-716) The purse was on the floor between the bathroom and a refrigerator. (T14:716-717) Mixon brought the items outside, and they contacted law enforcement. (T14:718, 768) Investigator Raley obtained the purse that contained items that appeared to be Mia Brown's. (T14:768-769) Mia Brown's husband and mother identified the purse and the contents. (T14:769)

Dick Mowbry, a game warden in Alabama with experience in tracking, helped search the wooded area, primarily looking for the car. (T13:555-557) He found a campsite with a tent and eventually found a car back in the woods about 150 yards off an old roadway.

(T13:561-562) The car had been burned with a fire hot enough to melt the glass windows. (T13:564-565) There was no license plate, but a melted Toyota insignia was located. (T13:564) Mowbry saw the seats were burned out of the car, and he could see into the trunk through a hole in the backseat area. (T13:565-566) He saw what appeared to be human remains, a charred rib cage. (T13:566-567) The conservation officer assisting him confirmed what Mowbry saw, and they called the sheriff's office. (T13:567)

Mike agent with Gillis, an the Alabama Investigation, examined the scene where the car was found. (T13:575-579) The car took a zig-zagged path into the woods, and Gillis found bark damage on trees and items from the car along the path. (T13:578-579) He recovered a plastic taillight lens and a white, outside mirror that had been knocked from the car. (T13:578) The burned human remains were inside the trunk of the car. (T13:580) Gillis was also present at the autopsy. (T13:580-583) There was some wiring found with the body -- some appeared to be automotive wiring and some was consistent with coaxial wires used for TV cables. (T13:582-583) Much of the insulation was burned off the wire. (T13:587 The coaxial wires were wrapped around the lower arms and hands. (T13:584) Some silver or gray duct tape was also present and appeared to have been wrapped around the body. (T13:585)

Dr. Stephen Boudreau, an Alabama medical examiner, performed

autopsy. (T14:683-686) The badly burned female remains consisted of the torso, with some internal organs. (T14:687-689) Through dental records, the remains were identified as Mia Brown. (T14:697-699) Cause of death was smoke inhalation and thermal When examining the lungs, Boudreau found soot burns. (T14:691) embedded in the mucus layer of the airway. (T14:695) In his opinion, the soot was breathed into the lungs, indicating that Brown was alive at the beginning of the fire. (T14:695) Carbon monoxide was found in a blood sample. (T14:697) Boudreau could not determine if Brown was conscious at the time the fire started. (T14:701) Wire was wrapped around the remains of the arms. (T14:689-690) The wire was television coaxial cable. (T14:690) Some other type wires were also with the body. (T14:690-691) Residual pieces of tape, possibly duct tape, in the hair and on the back of the neck. (T14:694-695) Boudreau concluded the death was a homicide. (T14:691)

Jeffrey Lowery, a deputy fire marshal for the Alabama State Fire Marshal's Office, collected the car and debris samples from the area for forensic testing. (T14:799-806) Perry Koussiafes, a senior laboratory analyst with the Fire Marshal's Office, conducted a chemical analysis of the debris. (T14:808-814) Three debris samples from the right front quarter showed the presence of a light petroleum distillate, such as lighter fluid or canned camping fuel. (T14:814-815) Arson Investigator Jason Deese examined the

burned vehicle and the laboratory results. (T14:818-820) He opined that the fire started in the area of the front passenger seat and compartment and was intentionally set using a flammable liquid. (T14:820-825)

Sherry Bradley worked at a convenience store located between Enterprise and Hartford, Alabama. (T13:646-647) On Friday, December 17, 2010, she opened the store at 5:00 a.m. (T13:648) Between 5:30 and 6:00 a.m., a man that Bradley identified as Calhoun entered the store. She said she knew him as Mr. Calhoun or Sketo. (T13:648-649) He had been in the store a few times. (T13:663) Bradley noticed that he drove a white, four-door car with a Florida license plate. (T13:651-652) He arrived at the store coming from the south and heading north, and when he left, he turned back south. (T13:652) He came to the counter and asked for the a pack of the cheapest cigarettes, and he paid with \$2 in change. (T13:650) As he counted the money, Bradley noticed that he had a lot of scratches on his hands, some with dried blood. (T13:650) She asked if he needed something for the scratches, he said he had been deer hunting. (T13:650-651) Bradley noted that his hands had black around he fingernails, like her mechanic husband had when he came home from work. (T13:654) The man was wearing a white T-shirt with an open flannel shirt over it. (T13:653-654) There were a couple of blood spots on the T-shirt. (T13:654) Bradley saw a missing persons flier on December 19th, she recognized Calhoun's photograph and called the

police. (T13:656-657)

Another regular customer, Darren Batchelor, arrived at the store while Calhoun was present. (T13:653; T14:675) Batchelor went to school with Calhoun, and he saw him just outside the convenience store about 6:00 a.m. in December 2010. (T14:676-677) Since Batchelor was in a hurry that morning, he quickly spoke to Calhoun and continued into the store for his coffee and cigarettes. (T14:677-678) This was the only time Batchelor had seen Calhoun at this store that was about fifteen miles from Esto. (T14:678, 681) Batchelor drove a silver, two-door Chevrolet Cobalt. (T14:681-682) He did not notice the type of car Calhoun drove. (T14:678)

Two witnesses driving in the area of Hartford, Alabama, saw smoke from a wooded area about 10:30 a.m to 11:00 a.m. on December 17, 2010. (T14:752-762) Brett Bennett saw a lot of smoke as he drove down a dirt road. (T14:756) He did not think it was a woods fire because the smoke was more centralized with black and orange colors. (T14:756-758) Keith Brinley, who worked for Geneva City Alabama in school maintenance, headed home for lunch about 11:00 a.m. (T14:758-760) When he turned down the dirt road leading to his house, he saw a big, black, mushroom-type fire. (T14:760-761)

In December of 2010, Tiffany Brooks lived in Hartford, Alabama, with her parents on Kelly Road. (T14:779) She knew Johnny Mack Calhoun as someone who had been to the house previously. (T14:779-780) About 9:30 a.m. on a Saturday in December 2010, Tiffany Brooks

found Calhoun in a shed where the family had a refrigerator and a a freezer. (T14:780) He was wrapped in a sleeping bag that had been used to help insulate the freezer. (T14:780-781) His clothes, blue overalls and a white T-shirt, were wet and dirty. (T14:781) There was no blood on his clothes. (T14:788) Tiffany brought Calhoun inside where he showered and put on some clean clothes while his were being washed. (T14:782) He took a nap on the couch, and later, Tiffany and her mother, Glenda Brooks, obtained some food from a Hardy's Restaurant for them all to eat. (T14:783) Glenda Brooks, Tiffany's mother, received a phone call from Tiffany's boyfriend, Steven Bledsoe, who had seen a missing person flier with Calhoun's picture and a woman named Mia Brown. (T14:784, 793-794) When asked, Calhoun said he did not know a Mia Brown, but he said that the girl may have been the person who was to pick him up for his girlfriend, Brittany. (T14:787, 794-799) After the phone call, they drove Calhoun to a dirt road in the woods at his request. (T14:785-786)

Investigators Charles Richards and Micahel Raley testified about the two searches of Calhoun's trailer. (T15:835, 845; 934) Charles Richards, a lab analyst with FDLE at the time, assisted in the searches. (T15:832-862) He photographed the trailer and collected possible evidence. (T15:835-837) The whole interior of the trailer was in disaray with clothes, trash and other items scattered around. (T15: 851) A partial roll of duct tape with a reddish stain on the cardboard roller was collected after the stain had a positive

presumptive test result for blood. (T15:838-839) Richards also photographed and collected five other pieces of duct tape. (T15:840-8410 A multi-colored sheet was collected from a folding futon bed and submitted for testing. (T15:841) A white quilt was on the same futon, and Richards collected it because there were some light-colored hairs on it as well as a pinkish stain. (T15:842-843) Richards found an SD card, a memory storage card for a digital camera, on the floor near the roll of duct tape. (T15:844) In the second search of the trailer, Richards collected some items of clothing with suspected hairs: a pair of black socks on the couch; black sweatpants and a pink polo shirt behind the bedroom door; and a black, long-sleeved shirt. (T15:847-848)

Michael Raley viewed photographs recovered from the camera SD card found in the trailer. (T15:914-919; 934,937) There were photographs of Mia Brown, her husband and other family members. (T13:691; T15:910-912; 937) Additionally, there was a photograph of the inside of Calhoun's trailer with a camera created date stamp of December 17, 2010, between 3:30 and 4:00 a.m. (T15:921-922, 937-939) Raley observed a television, DVD player, a VCR and a television converter box set up. (T15:940) Various cables were present, but one cable necessary to make the whole system work appeared to be missing. (T15:940-945) However, Raley acknowledged that he assumed a cable was missing, and he had no knowledge such a cable was ever there. (T15:959-961)

Trevor Seifret, a laboratory analyst with FDLE, testified about DNA testing on various items of evidence. (T15:862-909) On a roll of duct tape, a red stain tested positive for blood, and Seifret developed a mixed DNA profile from the stain. (T15:869-873) The major DNA contributor was Mia Brown with a complete 13 marker profile, and the minor contributor included the DNA of Johnny Mack Sketo Calhoun. (T15:870-873) Red stains on a multi-colored sheet tested positive for blood, and the complete DNA profile developed matched Calhoun. (T15:873-874) Three stains on a white bed quilt were positive for blood. (T15:875-880) Two of the stains produced DNA profiles matching Calhoun and the third stain had a DNA profile matching Mia Brown. (T15:878-880) Two hairs recovered from the white quilt had sufficient root to develop a DNA profile. (T15:881-883) One hair matched the DNA profile of Mia Brown, and the second hair matched the DNA profile of Johnny Calhoun. (T15:881-883) Testing of a hair found on a dark sock produced a mixed, partial DNA that included Mia Brown as a major contributor. (T15:883-884) Two of three hairs from a pair of black sweat pants produced DNA profiles. (T15:884-886) One had a complete DNA profile matching Mia Brown. (T15:885) The second hair had a partial DNA profile including Mia Brown. (T15:886) Four out of five hairs found on a pink polo shirt had complete DNA profiles matching Mia Brown. (T15:886-888) A single hair found on a black shirt had a partial DNA profile including Mia Brown. (T15:889-890)

On December 20, 2010, Harry Hamilton, a criminal investigator with the Holmes County Sheriff, arrived at Calhoun's trailer with intent to seize the trailer. (T15:926-927) He noticed that the evidence tape sealing the door was broken. (T15:927) Hamilton and Officer Dale Nye entered the trailer to be sure no one was inside. (T15:928) Officer Nye found Calhoun in the bedroom of the trailer, hiding underneath the mattress inside the bed frame box. (T15:928) They transported Calhoun to the Sheriff's Office. (T15:929) Calhoun had scratches on his legs, neck, arms and hands.(T15:929-931) Hamilton photographed the scratches. (T15:929-933)

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