IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

2013 JAH 23 AM 10: 28

BY_____

JOHNNY MACK SKETO CALHOUN,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC12-1086

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR HOLMES COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 159089

Office of the Attorney General PL-01, The Capitol Tallahassee, Fl 32399-1050 Primary Email: capapp@myfloridalegal.com Secondary Email: Steve.White@myfloridalegal.com (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4579 (850) 487-0997 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

The Penalty & sentencing Phase.

For the penalty phase, the state requested that the guiltphase evidence be considered (XVIII 1281-82), and the defense called several witnesses. (XVIII 1282-41)⁶ The jury recommended a death sentence buy a vote of 9 to 3. (XVIII 1373; VI 1017)

At the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, the defense called additional witnesses. (VII 1259-73) Calhoun addressed the trial court. (VII 1283-86) The State tendered victim impact statements. (VII 1287-1306)

After the trial court ordered a pre-sentence investigation (VI 1037, 1064-70), the parties submitted sentence memoranda (VI

⁶ Since the Initial brief does not attack the trial court's findings concerning mitigation, the State relies on the trial court's sentencing order (VI 1075-1083, attached as Appendix) for a summary of the mitigation evidence in the jury penalty phase and at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing.

1038-43, 1044-61), the trial court sentenced Calhoun to death. (VII 1308-1312; VI 1075-1083).

The trial court's sentencing order is attached as the appendix to this Answer Brief. The trial court rejected heinous, atrocious, and cruel (HAC), reasoning that the State did not prove that the victim was conscious "at the time of her death" (VI 1075-76) and found the following aggravating circumstances:

1. Committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner, assigned very great weight (VI 1076-77);

2. During the commission of a kidnapping, assigned great weight (VI 1078); and

3. Committed to avoid arrest, assigned very great weight (VI 1078-79).

Concerning mitigation, the trial court found the statutory mitigator of no significant criminal history, assigned significant weight. (VI 1079) The trial court discussed eight non-statutory mitigating circumstances:

1. Defendant exhibited good conduct while in jail and during trial, little weight;

2. Defendant has been a positive role model for other jail inmates, some weight;

3. Capacity for hard work, not established;

4. Capable of forming loving relationships, little weight;

5. Childhood history, little weight;

6. Will be incarcerated for life, minimal weight;

7. Born with Sudden Infant Death Syndrome, not mitigating;

8. Calhoun's personal statement to the court, no mitigation established.

(VI 1079-81)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I in unpreserved. Calhoun wants to present materials and arguments to this Court that he did not present to the trial court concerning the rule of completeness. Preservation is especially important in this situation because of the burden on the proponent of evidence to show why additional parts of a statement, which are otherwise unreliable hearsay, should be admitted out of fairness, such as to clarify a part of the introduced statement so it does not otherwise mislead the jury. Trial defense counsel tendered no specifics whatsoever to the trial court, perhaps because the excluded portions were so damaging to his defense.

If the merits of ISSUE I are reached, the trial court's ruling reasonable, especially given was the circumstances presented, and not presented, to the trial court. In any event, excluding the rest of Calhoun's statement actually benefitted Calhoun, rendering the exclusion harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. For example, in his statement, he bragged about having sex with about 30 married women the past four years, admitted to drug involvement, and weaved a story about an unknown man abducting him to an unknown location, for an unknown reason to kill him. In contrast, the defense attempted to suggest a different story at trial of Calhoun disappearing during someone's attempt to steal from the scrapyard. Indeed, Calhoun told the investigator that the unknown man grabbed him after he

(Calhoun) had come out of the trailer to speak with him, and the trial defense posed that someone forced open Calhoun's trailer door.

ISSUE II attacks CCP and Avoid Arrest aggravators. The evidence was sufficient to support each of them. Calhoun knew the victim, overcame the victim in a violent struggle that left the victim's blood and pulled-out hairs in Calhoun's trailer, tied up and gagged the victim, abducted the victim, drove her to a remote wooded location, and incinerated her. Along the way, while he was in a hurry, he calmly completed a purchase at a convenience store and concocted a story that attempted to explain the scratches on his hands.

None of the appellate issues merit any relief.

ARGUMENT

Because rulings of the trial court⁷ are the subject of an appeal, the "Tipsy Coachmen" principle applies: A "trial court's ruling should be upheld if there is any legal basis in the record which supports the judgment." "[T]he reviewing court may not preclude an appellee from raising an alternative basis to support the trial court's ruling solely because the argument was

⁷ Even in cases of fundamental error, the focus is on a trial court ruling, that is, one that, subject to fundamental-error's high appellate burden, should have been rendered.

not preserved." <u>State v. Hankerson</u>, 65 So.3d 502, 505-507 (Fla. 2011). <u>Accord Robertson v. State</u>, 829 So.2d 901 (Fla. 2002)(collected cases and analyzed the parameters of "right for any reason" principle of appellate review); <u>Butler v. Yusem</u>, 44 So.3d 102, 105 (Fla. 2010)("key to this ["Tipsy Coachman"] doctrine is whether the record before the trial court can support the alternative principle of law"); <u>Caso v. State</u>, 524 So.2d 422, 424 (Fla. 1988)("... affirmed, even when based on erroneous reasoning, if the evidence or an alternative theory supports it").

Therefore, because the trial court's order or ruling is the subject of the appellate review, even an argument that an appellee does not make on appeal should be considered as a basis for affirmance if it supports the trial court's decision. <u>See Jaworski v. State</u>, 804 So.2d 415, 419 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)("we are obligated to entertain any basis to affirm the judgment under review, even one the appellee has failed to argue"). <u>See also Ochran v. U.S.</u>, 273 F.3d 1315, 1316 (11th Cir. 2001)("We conclude that summary judgment for the defendant was appropriate, but for a different reason").

ISSUE I (RULE-OF-COMPLETENESS CLAIM): DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR IN REFUSING TO ADMIT DEFENDANT'S ENTIRE STATTEMENT TO THE POLICE? (IB 29-38, RESTATED)

ISSUE I claims that the trial court erred in refusing to introduce the rest of Calhoun's hour-long statement to Lt. Raley

after the State had introduced parts of it. However, the defense failed to show the trial court anything about the rest of Calhoun's statement that required it to be admitted in the interest of fairness. Nothing specific whatsoever in the rest of the statement was tendered to the trial court in support of the defense request. Indeed, the issue arose in the trial court when the defense objected to the State introducing Calhoun's partyadmissions on direct examination rather than the defense tendering the entire statement to the trial court for admission. Thus, the defense also failed to proffer the entire statement to the trial court for this issue, as well as failed to show how specific aspects of the rest of the statement promoted fairness.

However, arguendo, even if this Court reaches the merits and reviews a part of the record on appeal that was not presented to the trial court for this issue, the issue should be rejected. Given the balance of Calhoun's statement to Lt. Raley, the circumstances surrounding the ruling, and the totality of the trial evidence, none of the statements that the State introduced was misleading, and the remainder of Calhoun's statements to the police did not substantially clarify the statements that the State introduced. The trial court's ruling was reasonable.

Moreover, the balance of Calhoun's statements to the police was not consistent with the defense presented to the jury and actually would have been prejudicial to Calhoun's defense,

perhaps explaining why defense counsel did not fully pursue⁸ the matter through questions of Lt. Raley on cross-examination or even belatedly on direct examination when the defense recalled Lt. Raley in the defense's guilt-phase case.

A. THE IMPORTANCE OF PRESERVATION.

Preservation is especially important in this case. Calhoun correctly indicates (IB 35) that "fairness" is pivotal in deciding this issue. See §90.108, Fla. Stat. ("When a writing or recorded statement or part thereof is introduced by a party, an adverse party may require him or her at that time to introduce any other part or any other writing or recorded statement that in fairness ought to be considered contemporaneously"); Jordan v. State, 694 So.2d 708, 712 (Fla. 1997) ("Fairness is clearly the focus of this rule"; "general unreliability of inadmissible evidence should be one of the court's considerations in determining whether **fairness** requires admission"); Larzelere v. State, 676 So.2d 394, 401-402 (Fla. 1996) ("the correct standard is whether, in the interest of **fairness**, the remaining portions of the statements should have been contemporaneously provided to the jury); Christopher v. State, 583 So.2d 642, 645-46 (Fla.

⁸ If this Court affirms in this direct appeal, defense counsel's rationale may become a feature of postconviction proceedings.

1991) ("the rule of completeness generally allows admission of the balance of the conversation as well as other related conversations that in <u>fairness</u> are necessary for the jury to accurately perceive the whole context of what has transpired between the two"; subject to limitations that "'<u>must either</u> <u>relate to credibility or be germane to the matters brought out</u> <u>on direct examination'</u>"; <u>quoting Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 337 (Fla. 1982)); <u>see also Siegel v. State</u>, 68 So.3d 281, 287-89 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011) ("state contends that Siegel opened the door to the questions about his defense of the case when he testified"; "State must demonstrate a legitimate need to resort to such evidence to correct a false impression").

Thus, <u>Kaczmar v. State</u>, 2012 WL 4665829, *6 (Fla. 2012), recently explained:

The purpose of this statute, known as the rule of completeness, is to 'avoid the potential for creating misleading impressions by taking statements out of context.' Larzelere v. State, 676 So.2d 394, 401 (Fla. 1996). '[P]arties may seek the introduction of other statements when those statements "in fairness ought to be considered contemporaneously" with the introduction of the partial statement, ' but '[s]uch a fairness determination falls within the discretion of the trial judge.' Id. at 402

After correctly indicating that fairness is a major aspect of the test, Calhoun (IB 36-37) then focuses on two parts of his statements he made to Lt. Raley in arguing that it was unfair or misleading to exclude other portions of his statement to Lt. Raley.

However, Calhoun did not provide his appellate arguments to the trial court, thereby rendering them unpreserved on appeal. <u>See, e.g., Hoskins v. State</u>, 965 So.2d 1, 14 (Fla. 2007)("'For an issue to be preserved for appeal, ... it "must be presented to the lower court and <u>the specific legal argument or ground</u> to be argued on appeal must be part of that presentation if it is to be considered preserved."'"; <u>quoting Perez v. State</u>, 919 So.2d 347, 359 (Fla. 2005), <u>quoting Archer v. State</u>, 613 So.2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993)); <u>Rodriguez v. State</u>, 919 So.2d 1252, 1286 (Fla. 2005)(IAC appellate counsel; trial counsel objected to the admissibility of one photograph but failed to specify, for the trial court, others that he raised on appeal, thereby failing to preserve the issue for appeal).

<u>Harrell v. State</u>, 894 So.2d 935, 940 (Fla. 2005), explained the three components for "proper preservation" and its "purpose of ... to 'place[] the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provide[] him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings.' *Castor v. State*, 365 So.2d 701, 703 (Fla. 1978)."

In other words, for preservation, the non-prevailing partybelow must have provided the trial court the arguable benefit of the same argument that constitutes the appellate argument.

Here, defense counsel failed to present the trial court with the same argument that ISSUE I presents. Indeed, defense counsel

presented the trial court with no specific other portions of Calhoun's statement to Lt. Raley, and, accordingly, defense counsel failed to argue how such other statements should be admitted out of "fairness." The state elaborates.

The defense objected to the State introducing "bits and pieces of the [Calhoun's] statement" to Lt. Raley. (See XV 953-54) The trial court overruled the defense objection and allowed the State to "proceed with this line of questioning." (XV 954) The trial court's ruling on the admissibility of portions of Calhoun's statements to the police was correct, as Calhoun's statements that the State introduced were admissible as party admissions. See §90.803(18), Fla. Stat. Defense counsel, on a proffer during direct examination or perhaps on crossexamination of the witness, should have attempted to ask the witness questions concerning other portions of Calhoun's statement that clarified the portions the State introduced to show that fairness requires their presentation to the jury. Defense counsel would have then obtained a trial court ruling after showing the trial court not only the specific portions needed for clarification but also why they were needed for fairness. Instead of showing anything in the balance of the statement necessary for fairness, the defense simply made a broad statement that all of the rest of the statement should be admitted.

Consistent with the failure to preserve this issue, defense counsel was allowed to cross-examine Lt. Raley unimpeded by any objection whatsoever. (See XV 957-64) Indeed, on crossexamination, defense counsel was given unfettered leeway in asking Raley questions about Calhoun's explanation why he avoided law enforcement, which was an aspect of Calhoun's statement admitted on direct examination. (See XVI 958-59) Subsequently, the trial court pointed to the defense's "opportunity" during its cross examination of Raley "last week." (XVI 983) At this untimely juncture, the defense still failed to specify anything within Calhoun's statement that should have been admitted to clarify what the State introduced.

Indeed, even when the defense called Lt. Raley as its witness in the guilt phase, there was not even an untimely attempt to ask about any other portions of Calhoun's statement. (See XVI 1080-87, 1091-92) This omission is especially noteworthy because shortly prior to the defense calling Lt. Raley as its witness, Defense counsel discussed the questions that she would be asking Lt. Raley in her case, noting that there were additional matters that Calhoun discussed and on which cooperatively answered questions. (XVI 983-85) At that point, the trial court reserved ruling (XVI 985-86), but the defense failed to pursue the matter further when Lt. Raley testified as its witness. (See XVI 1080-87, 1091-92)

During the prosecutor's cross-examination of Glenda Brooks, while testifying as a defense witness, defense counsel even affirmatively strove to avoid a topic in Calhoun's statement to Raley by objecting to a prosecutor cross-examination question. Defense counsel contended that the question would "open[] the door" to an aspect of Calhoun's story about being kidnapped, which Calhoun had also related to Lt. Raley. The trial court sustained the defense objection and directed the prosecutor to "move away from this line of questioning." (XVI 1078-79)

Thus, the defense rested (<u>See</u> XVI 1106) after affirmatively seeking to avoid an aspect of Calhoun's statement to Lt. Raley, and rested without attempting to ask any of its witnesses about any other portion of Calhoun's statement to Lt. Raley.⁹

Even after resting, when defense counsel was discussing formally introducing the defense's photographs, the prosecutor indicated that "whatever she [defense counsel] wants to include in ... record, without objection from the state." (XVI 1106-1107) Defense counsel submitted exhibits for introduction into evidence without objection from the State. Even then, the exhibits did not, in any way, include any part of Calhoun's

⁹ Although this would have failed Section 90.108's "contemporaneous[]" requirement and thereby failed to cure the unpreserved status of the claim, continuing to fail to properly even belatedly, pursue the matter, provides additional substantiation that this claim was unpreserved below.

statement to Lt. Raley. (<u>See</u> XVI 1116) This discussion suggests the next point: The defense failed to proffer.

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